9



COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
BOARD OF REGISTRATION IN NURSING
250 Washington Street, Room 3C
Boston, MA 02108

And Via Zoom

Wednesday, March 11, 2026 9:00 am | 2 Hours | (GMT-04:00) Eastern Time (US & Canada)

Event Address for Attendees:
https://zoom.us/j/91491569037
Webinar ID: 914 9156 9037

Join by Phone:
+1 929 436 2866 US (New York)
Webinar ID: 914 9156 9037

Minutes of the Regularly Scheduled Board Meeting
Wednesday, March 11, 2026

	Board Members Present In Room 3C
	Board Members Not Present

	None
	A. Joseph, MD

	
	R. Sesay, ASN, RN

	Board Members Present Via Audio Or Video
	

	A. Alley, MSN, RN, Chairperson 
L. Kelly, DNP, RN, CNP, Vice Chairperson
S. Abshir, LPN
	

	K. Crowley, DNP, RN
L. Giambarresi, PharmD, RPh
	

	D. Nikitas, BSN, RN
	

	K. Pelletier, ADN, RN
	

	R. Reynolds, PhD, MSN, RN
K. Sanclemente, BSN, RN
	

	H. Underwood, LPN
	



	Staff Present In Room 3C
	Staff Not Present

	P. Scott, Licensing Coordinator
	L. Bermudez, Program Coordinator I

	S. Gaun, Office Support Specialist I
	L. Hillson, PhD, MSN, RN, Assistant Director for Policy and Research
H. Engman, JD, Chief Board Counsel

	
Staff Present Via Audio Or Video
	H. Caines Robson, MSN, RN, Nursing Education Coordinator

	H. Cambra, JD, BSN, RN, Executive Director
J. Matthews, MSN, APRN, MPH, Deputy Executive Director
	A. Hallowell, BSN, RN, Complaint Resolution Coordinator
K. Jones, Probation Compliance Officer

	R. Barros, JD, Board Counsel
M. Bresnahan, JD, Board Counsel
	M. Waksmonski, MSN, RN, SARP Coordinator

	C. Walsh, MSN, RN, Nursing Education Coordinator
V. McDonough, Nursing Education (Consultant) I
P. McNamee, MS, RN, Nursing Practice Coordinator
C. DeSpirito, JD, BSN, RN, Complaint Resolution
Coordinator
E. Conlon, SARP Monitoring Coordinator
R. Cody, Compliance Officer
L. Woodward, Compliance Officer
D. McKenney, Compliance Officer
	G. Luke, MBA, SARP Monitoring Coordinator


	E. Ketchum, Program Coordinator I
	

	A. Ouchterloney, Investigations Intern
	



TOPIC:  
Call to Order & Determination of Quorum

DISCUSSION:
A. Alley confirmed by roll call that a quorum of the Board members was present and announced that the meeting was being recorded.

ACTION:
At 9:00 a.m., A. Alley, MSN, RN, Chairperson, called the March 11, 2026 Regularly Scheduled Board Meeting to order.
	
TOPIC:   
Regular Session 

DISCUSSION: 
None.

ACTION:
Motion by A. Alley, seconded by L. Kelly, and voted by roll call with S. Abshir, A. Alley, K. Crowley, 
L. Giambarresi, L. Kelly, D. Nikitas, K. Pelletier, R. Reynolds, K. Sanclemente, and H. Underwood unanimously in favor to convene the Regular Session at 9:02 a.m.
Motion carries.

TOPIC:  
Approval of Agenda

DISCUSSION:
None.

ACTION:
[bookmark: _Hlk171412642][bookmark: _Hlk219192340]Motion by A. Alley, seconded by L. Kelly, and voted by roll call with S. Abshir, A. Alley, K. Crowley, 
L. Giambarresi, L. Kelly, D. Nikitas, K. Pelletier, R. Reynolds, K. Sanclemente, and H. Underwood unanimously in favor to approve the Agenda as presented.
Motion carries.

TOPIC: 
Approval of Board Minutes for the February 11, 2026 Meeting of the Regularly Scheduled Board Meeting

DISCUSSION:
None.

ACTION:
[bookmark: _Hlk140489474]Motion by A. Alley, seconded by L. Kelly, and voted by roll call with S. Abshir, A. Alley, 
L. Giambarresi, L. Kelly, D. Nikitas, K. Pelletier, R. Reynolds, K. Sanclemente, and H. Underwood unanimously in favor to accept the Minutes of the February 11, 2026 Regularly Scheduled Board Meeting as presented. 
K. Crowley abstained.
Motion carries.

TOPIC: Reports, Announcements and Administrative Matters
Announcements

DISCUSSION:
H. Cambra reminded Board Members to change their Outlook passwords to avoid being locked out of their accounts.

H. Cambra stated that Board staff is contemplating canceling the May Board Meeting due to a conflict with Nurse’s week and activities in Members’ professional lives. H. Cambra stated that Board Members should be receiving a survey with some alternate dates in the event that there needs to be a May Board Meeting. 

H. Cambra asked Board Members to sign up for the March 24th Complaint Committee meeting if they are able, as staff is in need of one (1) Board Member to sign up. H. Cambra stated that C. DeSpirito needs to know if anyone is available by noon today, so Board staff can determine if that meeting needs to be cancelled and add the cases to the Thursday Complaint Committee Meeting. 

ACTION:
So noted.

TOPIC: URAMP – None 

DISCUSSION:
None.

ACTION: 	
None.

TOPIC: Probation – None 
 
DISCUSSION:
None.

ACTION: 	
None.

TOPIC: Practice Coordinator Staff Report

DISCUSSION:
P. McNamee was available for questions.

ACTION: 
So noted.

TOPIC: Education
Nursing Education Staff Report

DISCUSSION:  
C. Walsh was available for questions.

ACTION: 
So noted.

TOPIC: Education
244 CMR 6.03 (2)(c) Out of State Nursing Education Programs
Keene State, Baccalaureate Degree Program – Represented by Director of Nursing S. Briedt, present via Zoom Audio and Video

DISCUSSION:  
C. Walsh summarized her previously distributed memorandum and attached exhibits to the Board.

K. Crowley asked C. Walsh to confirm that this was the second time the Program has come before the Board for this issue and C. Walsh confirmed the Program was before the Board in 2025 and confirmed that cohort was cleared up. K. Crowley asked for clarification on the Program Administrator having multiple roles and C. Walsh confirmed that was identified by the Program Administrator as one (1) of the challenges for this situation. K. Crowley asked if the Administrator is full-time and C. Walsh confirmed. K. Crowley asked if they had multiple responsibilities and not roles and C. Walsh confirmed.

ACTION:
Motion by R. Reynolds, seconded by K. Crowley, and voted by roll call with S. Abshir, A. Alley, 
K. Crowley, L. Giambarresi, L. Kelly, D. Nikitas, K. Pelletier, R. Reynolds, K. Sanclemente, and 
H. Underwood unanimously in favor to:
1. Accept the Board staff memorandum; 
2. Accept the Part B forms for the clinical experiences conducted in Massachusetts for the following time frames: 01/23/2026-05/01/2026 as outlined; 
3. Approve the clinical experiences conducted in Massachusetts for the following time frames: 01/23/2026-05/01/2026 as outlined;
4. Accept the Programs outlined plan of correction; 
5. Approve the Programs outlined plan of correction, with any further instances of noncompliance being brought to the Board for further review; and 
6. Find the Program compliant with 244 CMR 6.05 (2).
Motion carries.

TOPIC: Education
244 CMR 6.05 (1) Prerequisite Approval Status
Middlesex Community College, Practical Nurse Program – Represented by Senior Director for Nursing Education S. Lavallee, present via Zoom Audio and Video

DISCUSSION:  
C. Walsh summarized her previously distributed memorandum and attached exhibits to the Board.

ACTION:
Motion by K. Crowley, seconded by R. Reynolds, and voted by roll call with S. Abshir, A. Alley, 
K. Crowley, L. Giambarresi, L. Kelly, D. Nikitas, K. Pelletier, R. Reynolds, K. Sanclemente, and 
H. Underwood unanimously in favor to:
1. Accept the Board staff memorandum;
2. Accept the Program’s written notification of its decision to withdraw its application for initial approval of the Practical Nursing Program; and 
3. Terminate the prerequisite approval status of the Middlesex Community College Practical Nursing Program and direct that, should the College seek to establish a Practical Nursing Program in the future, it must do so in accordance with 244 CMR 6.05(1)(a), Procedures for the Establishment and Continuing Operation of Nursing Education Programs.
Motion carries.

TOPIC: Education
244 CMR 6.07 Program Changes
Diman Regional Technical Institute School of Practical Nursing – Represented by Program Administrator L. Young and Superintendent Director B. Bentley, present via Zoom Audio and Video

DISCUSSION:  
C. Walsh summarized her previously distributed memorandum and attached exhibits to the Board.

K. Crowley asked if the space went from 10,000 square feet to 2,000 square feet and C. Walsh confirmed. K. Crowley clarified that the space was reduced to 1/5 the size for the same amount of faculty, students, and learning spaces. K. Crowley asked if C. Walsh conducted a site survey and C. Walsh stated that they went for a site survey at the current location and there was nothing to view at Bristol because construction has not begun. C. Walsh stated they were only provided the diagrams. K. Crowley voiced concerns but noted that the current location may be too much space, and can still have the space needed for learning areas, simulation labs, clinical labs, and faculty areas. K. Crowley asked if the cohort that was put on hold was restarted and is progressing as planned and C. Walsh stated yes for one (1) cohort, not both. K. Crowley asked the pass rate and C. Walsh stated in 2025, it was 94%. A. Alley asked how many students total in the Program and C. Walsh stated 31, and asked L. Young to confirm. L. Young stated that as of yesterday, 30 students are enrolled in the full-time cohort. L. Kelly asked L. Young if she has concerns about the decrease in size of the location and L. Young stated the current location is very large, and while the new location is smaller, she believes that it can comfortably fit the 35 students in the classroom. L. Young stated that the blueprints have all the elements needed to run the Program. L. Young stated there is office space for faculty and hopes it all works out when it’s built. L. Kelly stated that the Program is designing the new space and L. Young noted that the atmosphere of the campus will be a plus as the current location has independent businesses. L. Young stated the campus will benefit the students as well. K. Crowley stated that the blueprints show that there is adequate office space for faculty to meet with students privately, and L. Young stated that there is shared office space, but there will be a conference room and faculty can also reserve private spaces to meet with students. 

ACTION:
Motion by R. Reynolds, seconded by K. Crowley, and voted by roll call with S. Abshir, A. Alley, 
K. Crowley, L. Giambarresi, L. Kelly, D. Nikitas, K. Pelletier, R. Reynolds, K. Sanclemente, and 
H. Underwood unanimously in favor to:
1. Accept the Program’s 244 CMR 6.07 (1)(c) Notification of a change in location; 
2. Approve the Program’s 244 CMR 6.07 (1)(c) Notification of a change in location; and
3. Direct the Program to submit the following:  
a. Due June 1, 2026 (prior to implementation date of July 1, 2026):
i. Certificate of Occupancy and finalized floor plan for Building “B” at Bristol Community College, identifying dedicated classroom, skills/simulation laboratory, faculty offices, student support space, and secure storage for student records and examinations [ref 244 CMR 6.04(5)(e)];
ii. Fully executed Memorandum of Understanding between Diman Regional Technical Institute School of Practical Nursing and Bristol Community College delineating governance, administrative authority, fiscal responsibility, and control of the nursing education program [ref 244 CMR 6.04(1)];
iii. Verification that reported learning resources, including simulation, instructional technology, assessment tools, and research resources (CINAHL), are installed, operational, and sufficient to support the approved enrollment of students. Include documentation of the Learning Management System transition plan (Moodle to Google Classroom) and online testing transition to ATI [ref 244 CMR 6.04(5)(d)];
iv. Updated FY2026–2027 budget reflecting relocation-related expenses and continued fiscal sustainability [ref 244 CMR 6.04(5)(f)];
v. Written confirmation that clinical affiliates have been notified of the relocation and that clinical agreements remain valid; and
b. Due October 1, 2026 (within 90 days of occupancy):
i. Post-implementation report confirming instruction commenced at the approved location, resources are fully operational, and no disruption to enrolled students occurred.
Motion carries.

TOPIC: Education
244 CMR 6.07 Program Changes
Greenfield Community College, Practical Nurse Program – Represented by Dean of Nursing M.A. Zamojski with Practical Nurse Coordinator R. Wolf, President M. Schutt, and Vice President of Academic Affairs H. Akoh, present via Zoom Audio and Video 

DISCUSSION:  
C. Walsh summarized her previously distributed memorandum and attached exhibits to the Board.

M.A. Zamojski stated that this issue started prior to her tenure as Dean and the corrections were in the 2024 report as noted. M.A. Zamojski stated that this is the plan to fix this particular year and plan to spread out the credits better. M.A. Zamojski stated that there will probably be another request to change the credits for the last class. A. Alley stated that this is in regard to NUR109. K. Crowley stated that it is great addition.

ACTION:
Motion by K. Crowley, seconded by R. Reynolds, and voted by roll call with S. Abshir, A. Alley, 
K. Crowley, L. Giambarresi, L. Kelly, D. Nikitas, K. Pelletier, R. Reynolds, K. Sanclemente, and 
H. Underwood unanimously in favor to:
1. Accept the Program’s 244 CMR6.07 (1)(e) Notification of a revision to the curriculum resulting in a change in sequence.
2. Accept the Board staff memo; 
3. Determine the program warrants approval for the proposed change in curriculum;  
4. Direct the Program to provide to the Board the following in order to demonstrate compliance with the regulatory requirements:  Due July 11, 2026:
a. table of credit hours and clock hours for each course demonstrating congruence with the published curriculum map and in accordance with generally accepted academic standards including consistency in credit-to-contact hour ratios; and
5. Failure to correct these regulatory deficiencies by the established due dates will result in the Board’s evaluation of the Program’s approval status [ref 244 CMR 6.08(1)]. 
Motion carries. 

TOPIC: Education
244 CMR 6.07 Program Changes
MGIHP Part-Time Accelerated Bachelor of Science (Martha’s Vineyard) – Represented by Associate Dean for Academic Affairs and Program Administrator M. Sipe, and Dean M. Abbott, present via Zoom Audio and Video

DISCUSSION:  
C. Walsh summarized her previously distributed memorandum and attached exhibits to the Board.

K. Crowley asked if the pass rates and completion rates provided included the part-time students because the Program just started in 2024, and C. Walsh stated she doesn’t know if any of the students that graduated were included. K. Crowley noted that one (1) student was dismissed from the cohort and wants to know where the other three (3) students are. K. Crowley added that in the report, the progression is noted to be based off faculty availability and resources, and wants to know where the three (3) first cohort part-time students are in their progression because it is a 16-month program. M. Sipe stated the part-time program is two (2) years long and the first cohort would have just finished. K. Crowley asked if all the students in the first cohort finished and M. Sipe confirmed. K. Crowley asked if the students were non-nurses obtaining their bachelor’s degree in nursing and M. Sipe confirmed. K. Crowley asked if the students took the NCLEX and M. Sipe stated the students were submitted to take the NCLEX and the Program does not have their scores. K. Crowley asked when the students graduated and M. Sipe stated January 2026. 

K. Crowley asked if the MGH Martha’s Vineyard Hospital gets support from the main campus in Boston and M. Sipe confirmed that it does. M. Sipe added that a faculty member goes on-site to Martha’s Vineyard for the skills lab to address the needs of the community. K. Crowley asked about administrative support since it was a year and a half before this request was submitted to the Board, when things were already up and running in Martha’s Vineyard. K. Crowley voiced concerns that there was no compliance with seeking approval to start a new location and new option from the Board for a year and a half when they are part of a larger entity that is housed in Boston. K. Crowley asked what level of support Martha’s Vineyard is getting administratively and in knowledge of requirements, recommendations and regulations. M. Sipe stated that there is a coordinator at Martha’s Vineyard as well as a faculty member that participates in class when there is distance learning on the site. M. Sipe stated that are new in their role and is in constant communication to make sure the Program is following everything they need to do for that site. M. Abbott added that the Assistant Dean of the Program is also new in her role and has already made one (1) site visit to the site and is planning on making another one this semester, and has full support. K. Crowley stated that the hybrid component wasn’t approved either and R. Reynolds confirmed. K. Crowley asked if the purpose of the Program was to increase the nursing workforce in rural Martha’s Vineyard but there is reference that if there’s no sites or difficulty finding sites, the students go to Charlestown for labs and/or sites. K. Crowley asked how those students get to Boston and M. Sipe stated that the Program works on providing transportation for the students but has not had do that for clinical sites yet. 

A. Alley voiced concerns regarding the noncompliance with notification to the Board. A. Alley stated that while the representatives may be new to their roles, MGHIHP is not and is well aware of the regulations. A. Alley stated that the Program has now graduated a cohort with no oversight from the Board and does not understand how that happened. A. Alley asked why the Board was not notified and M. Sipe stated that Martha’s Vineyard is part of the MGB system and there may have been a misunderstanding that it was considered a different site. M. Sipe stated that the Program acknowledges they should have notified the Board prior. K. Crowley asked M. Sipe how long they have been in their role and M. Sipe stated they were Interim in September 2025 and fully appointed in January 2026. K. Crowley stated that as a nurse administrator, the first question should have been regarding why the Board wasn’t notified. K. Crowley added that the reasoning that she is new to the role doesn’t help the Board understand how this was missed, nor does it alleviate any concerns about how it was missed. K. Crowley asked if there is information on how it went a year and a half, offering a brand-new option, a hybrid option, and graduated a cohort, there must be reason, which should be shared with the Board. 

R. Reynolds asked C. Walsh about the notation regarding whether some of the clinical hours are counting as on-the-job training and asked C. Walsh to elaborate. C. Walsh stated that it was unclear in the change report how clinicals were being conducted, who was conducting the clinicals, and it was clear that the faculty from Mass General were teaching the didactic component. C. Walsh added that it was unclear whether or not the faculty were staff members, if the clinical faculty were staff members or preceptors in the clinical portion of the change report. R. Reynolds stated that the general admission policies that would apply to IHP as a whole were not adhered to in the Martha’s Vineyard component and C. Walsh confirmed it was very selective to Martha’s Vineyard hospital applicant pools, which was different than the pool for admission is for in Boston. C. Walsh confirmed different admission criteria. K. Crowley asked if the four (4) students in the first cohort and the seven (7) students in the second cohort are all Martha’s Vineyard employees and C. Walsh confirmed. R. Reynolds voiced concerns about the amount of noncompliance. K. Crowley stated that on-the-job training is not approved by the Board in any way. H. Cambra asked the Program to clarify how clinical placements are done and how they are being offered. M. Sipe stated that clinical placements are not on-the-job trainings, they are part of the course, with a clinical instructor paid by MGHIHP who may also be an employee of Martha’s Vineyard hospital, but when they are doing clinical instruction, they are employed by the Program in those hours to do the clinical instruction. M. Sipe stated that the Program does not preclude people who are not employees of Martha’s Vineyard Hospital from applying to the Program because the Program is available to anyone on the island. M. Sipe stated that they do not say that they have to be an employee of Martha’s Vineyard hospital, and it is a location that the student can choose and can apply for the Program. M. Sipe stated that the same admission criteria is used for all programs and the location of this program can influence the application to this location. 

L. Kelly stated the Program is attempting to work with an area that is underrepresented and remote and if the outcomes are positive, it can be a good thing for nurses in other remote locations. L. Kelly stated that the Program has accepted responsibility, they understand and have plans to rectify the issues. L. Kelly stated that it looks bad when reading the memo, but there is ownership and they are moving forward. L. Kelly stated the Board needs to think outside the box regarding the areas where nursing students or prospective students don’t want to come into major cities. L. Kelly stated that it is good that the admissions have increased from four (4) to seven (7) which shows interest in the Program. L. Kelly asked if another site survey was appropriate and Board Members confirmed. L. Kelly stated that the Program is building upon it and if the Program came back in a year without addressing the issues, there would be more concern. M. Abbott stated that the failed notification to the Board was one of the first things looked at when M. Abbott and M. Sipe entered their roles and they ensured that the curriculum was equivalent at all the sites, despite the different format. M. Abbott stated that they understood the proper paperwork was not submitted because the person who was previously responsible for getting approval believed that because Martha’s Vineyard is part of the MGH-MGB system, it was not as substantive as it should have been in recognition. M. Abbott stated that they understand it was incorrect but that is how it progressed as it did. M. Abbott reiterated that the prior person believed it was under the same umbrella/the same program, and didn’t feel like it was irresponsible in following Board regulations. M. Abbott stated she and M. Sipe are working very hard to rectify that and be compliant with the regulations. M. Abbott stated that the Program is not just advertised in the hospital, it is advertised across the island so other folks can access the Program. M. Abbott stated that scholarships are available equally and are trying to increase the workforce on the island. M. Sipe stated that the Program is beginning to explore doing this at another site and are on top of all the requirements. M. Sipe stated they want to serve and respond to workforce issues. K. Crowley the theory behind why this is a good option is something that needs to be looked at, but it doesn’t negate the fact that there are processes that need to be followed, which is what is being reviewed today. K. Crowley stated that this level of noncompliance would warrant warning status and a site visit to evaluate. 

R. Barros asked if the Warning status was solely for the Martha’s Vineyard campus and asked if the Program has to notify all students on all campuses. C. Walsh stated that it is one (1) Nursing Program with different options, so it would be the entire MGHIHP nursing program on Warning. R. Barros asked for clarification on what the Board is hoping to achieve with the Warning status, what steps will be taken to remove the Warning status, since the action was already taken by the school, she is confused about what the Warning status will achieve to correct. R. Barros stated that she doesn’t know how the Program can correct something that has already been achieved. L. Kelly stated that she agrees and voted in opposition to the motion due to the Program only having been before the Board one (1) time for these issues, which is today and is already addressing the issues and provided the Board with the plan. L. Kelly stated that a site survey was more appropriate than the Warning status. L. Kelly asked if the Warning status is going to be short-lived because the Program is already addressing it. L. Kelly voiced concerns about placing the Program on Warning because they have only been before the Board one (1) time. A. Alley stated that there were several issues of non-compliance and there was an entire cohort that graduated from a Program that the Board had no knowledge or oversight of. A. Alley appreciates what M. Abbott and M. Sipe said and although they are new to their roles, MGHIHP is not new to the Board. A. Alley stated that a Warning status is appropriate regardless of if it is their first time, third time, or sixth time before the Board. A. Alley stated that the Program is no different than any other organization or Program that the Board has to hold accountable. A. Alley highlighted that there were regulations in place that were ignored or overlooked, but an entire cohort graduated that the Board had no knowledge of. A. Alley stated that constitutes Warning status and regardless of whether it is short-lived or not, there are regulations that the Board has to uphold everyone to. L. Kelly stated that the Board could put a lot of Programs on Warning but haven’t, and there are mitigating circumstances, including high NCLEX pass rates and completion rates. L. Kelly stated that there were significant regulations that weren’t followed, but acknowledging moving forward to fix them, it is the first time the Program is before the Board, there are high NCLEX pass rates, there are high completion rates, and the Program is trying to address rural areas. L. Kelly stated the site survey will help guide the Program. K. Crowley stated that she agrees with A. Alley and added that the Board sets the standards of how Programs become in existence and because there are so many areas of noncompliance, the Board can’t treat a program differently. K. Crowley stated that will set a precedent for other Programs to come back and just say they are addressing it. L. Kelly stated that the Board needs to treat every Program that way moving forward then and K. Crowley stated that she believes the Board does and takes offence to that comment from L. Kelly. K. Crowley stated the Board does a good job of talking through compliance issues related to educational programs in the state. K. Crowley stated that it was an inappropriate comment to make an insinuation that the Board makes decisions based off of Program names, entity, and location, which is not accurate and L. Kelly stated that was not the intention. L. Kelly stated that when a Program comes before the Board for the first time, the Board often works with the Program does site surveys and does not put them on Warning status. H. Cambra asked if Board Members need any further discussion surrounding MGHIHP or a re-vote on the action taken against the Program. H. Cambra stated that the action was taken and the vote did pass and it is important to hear all sides, and asked Board Members if anyone feels like they’ve heard something post-vote that would make them reconsider their original vote on this Program. K. Pelletier stated that she did not hear anything that would change her mind and D. Nikitas agreed. D. Nikitas stated that due to the length of time the Program was in noncompliance, it warranted the Warning status. D. Nikitas stated that she hopes the Warning status is short lived and the Program is doing a god job in turning things around, but there was significant noncompliance. A. Alley acknowledges that the noncompliance was out of control of M. Abbott and M. Sipe and the Program was noncompliant, it is the timing and the fact that there are regulations. A. Alley stated that he appreciates MGHIHP for stepping up and assisting in rural areas, which is much needed, but it is a preponderance of the evidence of noncompliance and for how long that went on. A. Alley stated that he is not changing his mind. R. Barros stated that she was trying to obtain clarification on who the Warning status would apply to and M. Abbott asked why the entire MGHIHP Program would be on Warning and not just Martha’s Vineyard, because it is a separate Program. M. Abbott asked if they have to notify everyone and not just the Martha’s Vineyard students and C. Walsh confirmed. A. Alley asked if there is a way to differentiate the Martha’s Vineyard Program for noncompliance versus the entire MGHIHP. R. Reynolds stated that the issue would be that the Program’s leadership is across the Programs, which would make it confusing. R. Reynolds stated that she doesn’t anticipate the Warning lasting very long. R. Reynolds clarified for L. Kelly that the Program was before the Board prior to this meeting. R. Reynolds stated that since the Administrators and Leadership team are across all the Programs, it would make it difficult to differentiate. 

ACTION:
Motion by K. Crowley, seconded by R. Reynolds, and voted by roll call with S. Abshir, A. Alley, 
K. Crowley, L. Giambarresi, D. Nikitas, K. Pelletier, R. Reynolds, and K. Sanclemente in favor to:
1. Accept the Board staff memorandum. 
2. Accept the Program’s notification pursuant to 244 CMR 6.07(1)(c) of a change in location (Martha’s Vineyard);
3. Find the Program noncompliant with 244 CMR 6.07(1)(a) for failure to notify the Board prior to implementation of the addition of a program option within a nursing education program;
4. Find the Program noncompliant with 244 CMR 6.07(1)(c) for failure to notify the Board prior to implementation of a change in location;
5. Find the Program noncompliant with 244 CMR 6.08(1)(e) for failure to adhere to the program’s stated curriculum plan as approved by the Board;
6. Determine the Program warrants approval of the change in location at Martha’s Vineyard site;
7. Determine the Program warrants approval of the addition of the Part-Time ABSN option at the Martha’s Vineyard location;
8. Determine the Program, in the Martha’s Vineyard location warrants a 244 CMR 6.08 (1)(a) site survey;
9. Determine there is a preponderance of evidence to support Approval with Warning Status;
10. If the determination is made that the Program is placed on Approval with Warning Status, as specified at 244 CMR 6.08(2), direct the Program to:
a. immediately notify all enrolled students and program applicants in writing, in accordance with established current Board guidelines, the program’s Approval with Warning Status, the basis therefore, and the necessary corrective action(s); and
b. inform all program graduates that they remain eligible to write the NCLEX; with
11. Direct the Program to provide to the Board the following:
a. Due by April 11, 2026:
i. Organizational and Program Documentation: Submit the following as one complete package:
1. Organizational Chart – Submit a detailed chart showing reporting lines for the MVH Part-Time ABSN program, including the Program Administrator, SON-Assigned Coordinator, MVH Facility Coordinator, clinical instructors/preceptors, and support staff;
2. Policies for Students at MVH Location – Submit all site-specific policies, including attendance, progression, dismissal, clinical rotation/travel requirements, technology use, health and safety, academic integrity, grievance procedures, and any deviations from main campus policies;
3. Submission of the Programs 14 Board required policies; 
4. Budget Outline for MVH Program – Submit a detailed budget including salaries and benefits for faculty, Facility Coordinator, and clinical instructors; travel and lodging for site visits; simulation/lab costs; instructional technology and LMS expenses; tuition revenue; and fiscal sustainability for current and projected enrollment;
5. Clinical Documentation – Provide a complete list of clinical sites, including MVH units and supplemental Boston MGB sites, with identification of the supervising personnel (SON faculty, MVH preceptors, or combination) for each placement. Include a description of how clinical hours are structured and evaluated, and whether any hours are considered “on-the-job training” as part of the pilot;
6. Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) – Fully executed MOU between MGH IHP SON and MVH delineating governance, administrative authority, fiscal responsibility, and oversight of the program [ref 244 CMR 6.04(1)].
b. Due by May 1, 2026: 
i. A detailed side-by-side curriculum comparison table of the Board-approved ABSN curriculum and the curriculum currently implemented at the MVH location, including:
1. Course sequencing;
2. Credit hours and total clock/contact hours (theory, laboratory, and clinical);
3. Delivery format, specifying percentages of face-to-face, hybrid, and distance education instruction
4. Clinical hour allocations by course and clinical setting;
5. Identification of any course consolidation, content redistribution, or modifications to instructional or clinical hours.
ii. Course syllabi for all courses offered in the MVH Part-Time ABSN option, including:
1. Course descriptions;
2. Student Learning Outcomes (SLOs);
3. Weekly content outlines;
4. Clinical objectives and evaluation methods;
5. Methods of instruction and assessment; with
12. Failure to correct these regulatory deficiencies by the established due dates will result in the Board’s evaluation of the Program’s approval status [ref 244 CMR 6.08(1)].
L. Kelly, H. Underwood voted in opposition.
Motion carries.

TOPIC: Education
244 CMR 6.07 Program Changes
MGIHP Part-Time Accelerated Bachelor of Science (Martha’s Vineyard) – Represented by Associate
Dean for Academic Affairs and Program Administrator M. Sipe, and Dean M. Abbott, present via Zoom Audio and Video

DISCUSSION:  
C. Walsh summarized her previously distributed memorandum and attached exhibits to the Board.

ACTION:
Motion by K. Crowley, seconded by R. Reynolds, and voted by roll call with S. Abshir, A. Alley, 
K. Crowley, L. Giambarresi, L. Kelly, D. Nikitas, K. Pelletier, R. Reynolds, K. Sanclemente, and 
H. Underwood unanimously in favor to:
1. Accept the Board staff memorandum;
2. Accept the Program’s submission of change of 244 CMR 6.07(1)(b) an increase in student admissions of 20% or more above the most recent three-year admission mean; 
3. Find the Program non-compliant with 244 CMR 6.07(1)(b) an increase in student admissions of 20% or more above the most recent three-year admission mean for failure to obtain Board approval prior to implementation; and
4. Determine the Program warrants approval for the 250% increase in student admissions.
Motion carries.

TOPIC: Education
244 CMR 6.07 Program Changes
MGIHP Part-Time Accelerated Bachelor of Science (Boston) – Represented by Associate Dean for Academic Affairs and Program Administrator M. Sipe, and Dean M. Abbott, present via Zoom Audio and Video

DISCUSSION:  
C. Walsh summarized her previously distributed memorandum and attached exhibits to the Board.

K. Crowley asked what the Program was originally approved for, regarding the cohort, when the Program sought approval from the Board and M. Abbott stated that she believes it was a 20-25 student target amount for part-time. K. Crowley asked for clarification on a note in C. Walsh’s memo and C. Walsh stated that she was unclear about certain things but will be able to obtain more information with a site survey. R. Reynolds asked if C. Walsh needed more information regarding the admissions timeframe and such and C. Walsh confirmed that there were inconsistencies in the some of the reports and some of the subsequent information received from the Program Administrator, so with the site survey, they should be able to clear up any inconsistencies. 

ACTION:
Motion by K. Crowley, seconded by R. Reynolds, and voted by roll call with S. Abshir, A. Alley, 
K. Crowley, L. Giambarresi, L. Kelly, D. Nikitas, K. Pelletier, R. Reynolds, K. Sanclemente, and 
H. Underwood unanimously in favor to:
1. Accept the Board staff memorandum;
2. Accept the Program’s submission of change of 244 CMR 6.07(1)(b) an increase in student admissions of 20% or more above the most recent three-year admission mean; 
3. Find the Program non-compliant with 244 CMR 6.07(1)(b) an increase in student admissions of 20% or more above the most recent three-year admission mean for failure to obtain Board approval prior to implementation; and
4. Determine the Program warrants approval for the 1100% increase in student admissions.
5. Due June 1, 2026:
a. Request the Program to supply the Board with clarification regarding admission structure and targets for the part-time ABS Program, including how cohort sizes are determined, total admissions that are distributed across multiple entry terms, and whether the Program maintains a standardized admissions cycle and admits student variably depending on cohort availability and institution planning.
Motion carries.

TOPIC: Education
244 CMR 6.07 Program Changes
MGIHP Full-Time Accelerated Bachelor of Science (Boston) – Represented by Associate Dean for Academic Affairs and Program Administrator M. Sipe, and Dean M. Abbott, present via Zoom Audio and Video

DISCUSSION:  
C. Walsh summarized her previously distributed memorandum and attached exhibits to the Board.

M. Abbott stated that in addition to the Program hiring more clinical instructors, the Program also added a full-time FTE for the Program and increased didactic lectures for the Program to ensure ratios. M. Sipe stated the increased numbers were included in the supplemental report. K. Crowley asked if that was verified and C. Walsh stated it was not. C. Walsh added that it was included in the change report but there is no way for her to verify the information. K. Crowley asked if the same issues were present about understanding entering cohorts, starting times, and related items and C. Walsh confirmed. K. Crowley asked for the pass rates and completion rates and C. Walsh stated that it was the same as what was presented in the Martha’s Vineyard matter. R. Reynolds stated that there is a plan in place. R. Reynolds stated that it is fantastic that there are so many applicants and it’s out of anyone’s control, but it is part of the Program’s control on who is admitted. K. Crowley stated that the Program needed to submit the paperwork regarding the increase in students and asked Board Members if they wanted to stay consistent with the Board’s decision on the last increase for the Boston part-time Program and just have the follow-up information provided, or do Board Members want more clarification on admissions by doing a site visit. R. Reynolds recommended a site visit to strengthen the Program due to recent changes, it would be an opportunity to assist the Program in getting things in alignment, and also provide an opportunity to compare the Martha’s Vineyard and Boston campuses to ensure the policies are mirroring each other. K. Crowley asked when the last site visit was and C. Walsh stated that it was 2019. M. Abbott stated that the Program followed the same algorithm in terms of the number of students and are working closely with the Office of Admissions to figure out why and how this anomaly occurred and to prevent it from happening in the future. M. Abbott stated that it was immediately addressed. R. Reynolds reiterated that the site visit is meant to help the Program be cohesive and remain in alignment with the regulations. 

ACTION:
Motion by K. Crowley, seconded by R. Reynolds, and voted by roll call with S. Abshir, A. Alley, 
K. Crowley, L. Giambarresi, L. Kelly, D. Nikitas, K. Pelletier, R. Reynolds, K. Sanclemente, and 
H. Underwood unanimously in favor to:
1. Accept the Board staff memorandum;
2. Accept the Program’s submission of change of 244 CMR 6.07(1)(b) an increase in student admissions of 20% or more above the most recent three-year admission mean for the Spring 2026 cohort; 
3. Find the Program non-compliant with 244 CMR 6.07(1)(b) an increase in student admissions of 20% or more above the most recent three-year admission mean for failure to obtain Board approval prior to implementation; and
4. Determine the Program warrants approval for the 74.6% increase in student admissions for spring 2026 cohort.
5. Find the Program warrants a site survey.
Motion carries.

TOPIC: Requests for License Reinstatement – None 

DISCUSSION:
None.

ACTION: 	
None.

TOPIC: Strategic Development, Planning and Evaluation 
Proposed revised Out of State Certificate of Graduation

DISCUSSION:
C. Walsh summarized her previously distributed memorandum and attached exhibits to the Board.

R. Reynolds appreciated the thoroughness of the proposed revisions and thanked C. Walsh for her work and Board Members agreed. 

ACTION: 
Motion by L. Kelly, seconded by R. Reynolds, and voted by roll call with S. Abshir, A. Alley, K. Crowley, L. Giambarresi, L. Kelly, D. Nikitas, K. Pelletier, R. Reynolds, K. Sanclemente, and H. Underwood unanimously in favor to:
1. Accept the Board staff memorandum; 
2. Accept the revised out of state Certificate of Graduation; and
3. Determine the proposed revisions to the Out of State Certificate of Graduation warrants approval.
Motion carries.

TOPIC: Strategic Development, Planning and Evaluation 
Legislative Updates (Deferred to May)

DISCUSSION:
Deferred.

ACTION: 
Deferred.

TOPIC: Strategic Development, Planning and Evaluation 
Topics for Next Agenda

DISCUSSION:
None.

ACTION: 
So noted.

TOPIC:
Adjournment of Regular Session

DISCUSSION:
None.

ACTION: 
Motion by A. Alley, seconded by L. Kelly, and voted by roll call with S. Abshir, A. Alley, K. Crowley, 
L. Giambarresi, L. Kelly, D. Nikitas, K. Pelletier, R. Reynolds, K. Sanclemente, and H. Underwood unanimously in favor to adjourn the Regular Session at 10:35 a.m.
Motion carries.

TOPIC:   
G.L. c. 112, s. 65C Session 

DISCUSSION: 
None.

ACTION:
Motion by A. Alley, seconded by D. Nikitas, and voted by roll call with S. Abshir, A. Alley, K. Crowley, L. Giambarresi, D. Nikitas, K. Pelletier, R. Reynolds, K. Sanclemente, and H. Underwood unanimously in favor to convene the G.L. c. 112, s. 65C Session at 10:50 a.m.
Motion carries.


G.L. c. 112, s. 65C Session 10:50 a.m. to 11:07 a.m.

TOPIC:   
Adjudicatory Session 

DISCUSSION: 
None.

ACTION:
Motion by A. Alley, seconded by L. Kelly, and voted by roll call with S. Abshir, A. Alley, K. Crowley, 
L. Kelly, D. Nikitas, K. Pelletier, R. Reynolds, K. Sanclemente, and H. Underwood unanimously in favor to convene the Adjudicatory Session at 11:08 a.m. to deliberate on proposed final decisions and orders, and rulings on pending adjudicatory matters.
Motion carries.


Adjudicatory Session 11:08 a.m. to 11:14 a.m.

TOPIC:   
G.L. c.30A, §21 Executive Session

DISCUSSION: 
None.

ACTION:
Motion by A. Alley, seconded by L. Kelly, and voted by roll call with S. Abshir, A. Alley, K. Crowley, 
L. Kelly, D. Nikitas, K. Pelletier, R. Reynolds, K. Sanclemente, and H. Underwood unanimously in favor to convene the Executive Session at 11:23 a.m. as per Purpose One of G.L. c.30A, §21 (a)(1).
Motion carries.


G.L. c. 30A, § 21 Executive Session 11:23 a.m. to 12:36 p.m.
[bookmark: _Hlk171412801]
TOPIC:
Adjournment  

DISCUSSION:
None.

ACTION: 
Motion by A. Alley, seconded by L. Kelly, and voted by roll call with S. Abshir, A. Alley, K. Crowley, 
L. Kelly, D. Nikitas, K. Pelletier, R. Reynolds, K. Sanclemente, and H. Underwood unanimously in favor to adjourn the meeting at 12:36 p.m.
Motion carries.


Minutes of the Board’s March 11, 2026, Regularly Scheduled Meeting were approved by the Board on April 8, 2026.


___________________________________________
Anthony Alley, MSN, RN
Chairperson
Board of Registration in Nursing 


Agenda with exhibits list attached.

     Commonwealth of Massachusetts
Board of Registration in Nursing

Notice of the Regularly Scheduled Meeting

Regular Session

250 Washington Street
Conference Room 3C
Boston, Massachusetts 02108
And Via Zoom

Wednesday, March 11, 2026 9:00 am | 2 Hours | (GMT-04:00) Eastern Time (US & Canada)

Event Address for Attendees:
https://zoom.us/j/91491569037
Webinar ID: 914 9156 9037

Join by Phone:
+1 929 436 2866 US (New York)
Webinar ID: 914 9156 9037

Wednesday, March 11, 2026

PRELIMINARY AGENDA AS OF 3/2/26 4:05pm
	Estimated Time

	Item
#
	Item
	Exhibit
	Presented by

	9:00 a.m.
	I.
	CALL TO ORDER & DETERMINATION OF QUORUM
	None
	

	
	II.
	APPROVAL OF AGENDA
	Agenda
	

	
	III.
	APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
A. Draft Minutes for the February 11, 2026 Meeting of the Board of Registration in Nursing, Regular Session Via Zoom

	
Minutes
	

	


	IV.
	REPORTS, ANNOUNCEMENTS AND ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS
A. Announcements

	

Oral / Memo
	

HC

	
	V.
	URAMP – None 
	
	

	
	VI.
	PROBATION – None
	
	

	

	VII.
	PRACTICE
A.   Practice Coordinator Staff Report

	
Report
	
PM



	

	VIII.
	EDUCATION
A. Nursing Education Staff Report
B. 244 CMR 6.03 (2)(c) Out of State Nursing Education Programs
1. Keene State, Baccalaureate Degree Program 
C. 244 CMR 6.05 (1) Prerequisite Approval Status
1. Middlesex Community College, Practical Nurse Program
D. 244 CMR 6.07 Program Changes
1. Diman Regional Technical Institute School of Practical Nursing
2. Greenfield Community College, Practical Nurse Program
3. MGIHP Part-Time Accelerated Bachelor of Science (Martha’s Vineyard)
4. MGIHP Part-Time Accelerated Bachelor of Science (Martha’s Vineyard)
5. MGIHP Part-Time Accelerated Bachelor of Science (Boston)
6. MGIHP Full-Time Accelerated Bachelor of Science (Boston)
	
Report

Memo

Memo

Memo


Memo
Memo

Memo

Memo


Memo
	
CW

CW

CW

CW


CW
CW

CW

CW


CW

	
	IX.
	REQUESTS FOR LICENSE REINSTATEMENT – None 
	
	

	 

	X.
	STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT, PLANNING AND EVALUATION 
A. Proposed revised Out of State Certificate of Graduation
B. Legislative Updates (Deferred to May)
C. Topics For Next Agenda
	
Memo
	
CW






	
	
	LUNCH BREAK
	

	
	XI.
	M.G.L. c. 112, § 65C SESSION
	CLOSED SESSION

	
	XII.
	M.G.L. c. 30A, § 18 ADJUDICATORY SESSION
	CLOSED SESSION

	
	XIII.
	EXECUTIVE SESSION
The Board will meet in Executive Session as authorized pursuant to M.G.L. c.30A, § 21(a)(1) for the purpose of discussing the reputation, character, physical condition or mental health, rather than professional competence, of an individual, or to discuss the discipline or dismissal of, or complaints or charges brought against, a public officer, employee, staff member or individual.  

1. Specifically, the Board will discuss and evaluate the
Good Moral Character and Massachusetts Department
of Children and Families Cases as required for
registration for pending applicants.

2. Specifically, the Board will discuss and evaluate the
reputation, character, physical condition or mental
health, rather than professional competence, of
licensees relevant to their petitions for license status
change.

3. Specifically, the Board will discuss and evaluate the
reputation, character, physical condition or mental
health, rather than professional competence, of
licensees relevant to their compliance with the term
of monitored licensed practice or participation in the
Board’s Substance Addiction Recovery Program.

4. Approval of prior executive session minutes in accordance
with M.G.L. c. 30A, § 22(f) for sessions held during the
February 11, 2026 meeting.

	CLOSED SESSION

	5:00 p.m.
	XIV.
	ADJOURNMENT
	
	



If you need reasonable accommodations in order to participate in the meeting, contact the DPH ADA Coordinator Stacy Hart at Stacy.Hart@mass.gov in advance of the meeting.  While the Board will do its best to accommodate you, certain accommodations may require distinctive requests or the hiring of outside contractors and may not be available if requested immediately before the meeting.



TEMPLATE - FY 14 Regular Minutes (2)		Page 1 of 7
14

March 11, 2026 Regular Session Board Meeting Minutes 
 (to be Approved 04/08/2026)		Page 1 of 6
